IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

Estate of MARY CURTIS, deceased; LAURA LATRENTA, as Personal Representative of the Estate of MARY CURTIS; and LAURA LATRENTA, individually, Plaintiffs/Appellants,

Appellants,

vs.

ANNABELLE SOCAOCO, NP; IPC HEALTHCARE, INC. aka THE HOSPITALIST COMPANY, INC.; INPATIENT CONSULTANTS OF NEVADA, INC.; IPC HEALTHCARE SERVICES OF NEVADA, INC.; HOSPITALISTS OF NEVADA, INC., Electronically Filed Nov 06 2019 06:34 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

Supreme Court No. 79116 District Court Case No. A750520

Respondents.

APPELLANTS' OPENING BRIEF

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

A Motion to Reconsider was granted in this matter by the District Court, dismissing Appellant Ms. Latrenta's negligence claims against Appellees Annabelle Socaoco, N.P.; IPC Healthcare, Inc. aka The Hospitalists Company Inc.; Inpatient Consultants of Nevada Inc.; IPC Healthcare Services of Nevada Inc.; and Hospitalists of Nevada Inc., on April 25, 2019. A Notice of Appeal was filed on July 1, 2019. Appellants Appendix0367-0369.¹ This Court has jurisdiction to hear this appeal pursuant to NRAP 3A(b)(1).

ROUTING STATEMENT

This appeal is presumptively retained by the Supreme Court because the question presented is an issue of statewide public importance and upon which there is an inconsistency in the decision of the district court and the language of NRS 41A.097(2). NRAP 17(a)(11). The statute provides, in relevant part, that "an action for injury or death against a provider of health care may not be commenced more than 3 years after the date of injury or 1 year after the plaintiff discovers or through the use of reasonable diligence should have discovered the injury, whichever occurs first." NRS 41A.097(2). This Court has further specified that the accrual date for NRS 41A.097(2)'s one-year discovery period ordinarily presents a question of fact

¹ Appellants Appendix, hereinafter "APP____".

to be decided by a jury, *Winn v. Sunrise Hosp. & Medical Center*, 277 P.3d 458, 459 (Nev. 2012), and that the question of "reasonable diligence" is likewise one for a jury. *Bemis v. Estate of Bemis*, 967 P.2d 437, 441 (Nev. 1998). Relying on facts upon which reasonable minds could differ as to the interpretation thereof, the lower court erroneously found the point at which the evidence incontrovertibly demonstrated that the plaintiff was put on inquiry notice of the cause of action.

Additionally, the district court concluded in this case that notice inquiry as to the identity of the tortfeasors was not material to the question of discovery under NRS 41A.097(2). This conclusion flies in the face of the Supreme Court's decision and reasoning in *Siragusa v. Brown*, 971 P.2d 801 (Nev. 1998), that a plaintiff's cause of action does not accrue until she has or should have discovered the necessary facts, including the identity of the specific tortfeasor.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

1. Are litigants, the Respondents here, entitled to reconsideration of prior orders without offering sufficient bases therefor?

2. May a district court reconsider a prior order without identifying the existence of new evidence in front of the court or a change in the law, or without identifying the presence of a clear error in the prior order?

3. Does inquiry notice under the Discovery Rule apply to notice of the

2

identity of a potential tortfeasor as well as notice of the actionable harm?

4. May a district court decide that the presence of an illegible name on a document irrefutably demonstrates that a plaintiff was put on inquiry notice of the identity of this person as a potential tortfeasor?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal pertains to allegations of nursing home abuse and neglect filed as a Complaint in the District Court of Clark County, Nevada. Appellant Laura Latrenta ("Laura Latrenta" or "Ms. Latrenta") appeals an Order entered on April 24, 2019, APP0396-401. Granting reconsideration and dismissing her Complaint against Annabelle Socaoco, NP, IPC Healthcare, Inc. aka The Hospitalist Company, Inc., Inpatient Consultants of Nevada, Inc., IPC Healthcare Services of Nevada, Inc., and Hospitalists of Nevada, Inc. (collectively, "IPC" or "Respondents), to which a timely Notice of Appeal was filed.² Given that the dates of this case's procedural milestones are material to this appeal, further case detail is recounted in STATEMENT OF FACTS immediately below. On July 8, 2019, this appeal was assigned to the NRAP 16 Settlement Program. However, on July 9, 2019, this Court entered an Exemption From Settlement Program – Notice to File Documents.

² Ms. Latrenta's own subsequent Motion for Reconsideration was denied *in toto*. APP0364-0366.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On March 7, 2016, a Nevada nursing home, Life Care Center of Paradise Valley ("LCC"), administered to nursing home resident Mary Curtis morphine not prescribed for her. LCC contacted Mary Curtis' daughter, Ms. Latrenta, and conceded their error. Nevertheless, the nursing home failed to timely address their mistake in administering the drug, and, Mary Curtis subsequently died, March 11, 2016. Her death certificate, issued *April 18, 2016,* APP0255, identifies her immediate cause of death as morphine intoxication. The medical examiner who completed the death certificate contacted Ms. Latrenta four days earlier, on *April 14, 2016,* and Ms. Latrenta spoke to the examiner, who discussed his findings. APP0327. With only these facts and only the identity of LCC known, on June 30, 2016, Ms. Latrenta requested her mother's complete record from LCC.

On February 2, 2017, Ms. Latrenta filed a Complaint against LCC, its operators, managers, and administrators, alleging abuse/neglect of Ms. Latrenta's mother Mary Curtis, wrongful death, and breach of contract. Specifically, Ms. Latrenta's Complaint alleged (1) abuse/neglect of an older person (N.R.S. 41.1395), (2) wrongful death, on behalf of the Estate of Mary Curtis (N.R.S. 41.0185), (3) wrongful death on behalf of Laura Latrenta herself (N.R.S. 41.0185), and (4) a bad faith tort. APP0001-0009.

After conversation with the medical examiner, and further investigation by counsel and review by medical experts, on April 14, 2017, in Case No. A-17-754013-C, Ms. Latrenta filed a separate Complaint against Defendant Samir Saxena, M.D., whom Ms. Latrenta believed was partially responsible for the delay in sending Mary Curtis to the hospital following the morphine mis-dosing. At this point, Ms. Latrenta had in her possession documents showing some of the subsequent steps taken at LCC following the mis-dosing, including a physician's prescription (Narcan) and the post-acute progress note documenting administration of the prescription. Further, the coroner's investigation report mentioned only this physician, and stated:

> The decedent became excessively sedated, and a physician was called to examine the decedent; and that afternoon the physician administered Narcan and Clonidine, with follow-up physician order for close observation and monitoring every 15 minutes for one hour, and every 4 hours thereafter.

Coroner's Report, APP0265.

The medical records listed the attending physician as Dr. Saxena. However, one Annabelle Socaoco, a Nurse Practitioner (see below), actually signed the postacute progress note, entering the orders for Narcan and observation, using illegible script in both signature and print form. As such, Ms. Latrenta believed that Dr. Saxena had directed the medical post-overdose steps taken in Mary Curtis's case. In the Complaint against Dr. Saxena, Ms. Latrenta alleged that despite Dr. Saxena's notice and knowledge that LCC wrongfully administered morphine to Ms. Curtis, Dr. Saxena failed to timely order that she be sent to an acute care setting, to be closely monitored and provided the appropriate treatment to counteract the morphine. Specifically, the Dr. Saxena Complaint alleged (1) abuse/neglect of an older person (N.R.S. 41.1395), (2) wrongful death, on behalf of the Estate of Mary Curtis (N.R.S. 41.0185), (3) wrongful death on behalf of Laura Latrenta herself (N.R.S. 41.0185), and (4) medical malpractice. APP0027-38. The district court consolidated the case against Dr. Saxena with the case against LCC on October 10, 2017, finding and concluding that "common questions of law and fact exist between the two cases." APP0058.

On several occasions throughout the litigation, Ms. Latrenta requested incident reports from LCC regarding Mary Curtis. On August 9, 2017, Ms. Latrenta served on LCC her first set of production requests, including a request for incident/accident reports. Then, on September 25, 2017, Ms. Latrenta's counsel sent a letter to LCC's counsel regarding outstanding discovery, including incident reports. Letter, APP00122-129.

Over five months after her initial request for incident reports, on October 24, 2017, Ms. Latrenta's counsel discussed outstanding discovery with LCC's counsel. LCC refused to produce incident reports without a protective order. Due to the

continued refusal, on November 8, 2017, Ms. Latrenta filed a motion to compel requesting that LCC be ordered to produce, *inter alia*, incident reports. APP0061-170.

On December 4, 2017, Ms. Latrenta's counsel, via email, informed LCC's counsel that she needed Mary Curtis' incident reports for depositions taking place that week and offered to treat Mary Curtis' incident reports as confidential until the following week's hearing on the motion to compel.

On December 6, 2017, Ms. Latrenta's counsel deposed Cecilia Sansome ("Nurse Sansome"), a nurse formerly employed at LCC's nursing home facility. During Nurse Sansome's deposition, and for the first time, Ms. Latrenta learned of the involvement of Annabelle Socaoco ("N.P. Socaoco"), the nurse practitioner, in the injury and death of Mary Curtis. Specifically, Ms. Latrenta learned that after Nurse Sansome assessed Mary Curtis, she attempted to call the physician (Dr. Saxena) through the answering service and was told that a Nurse Practitioner Socaoco would call her back. Shortly thereafter, N.P. Socaoco called and, having been informed of Mary Curtis's circumstances, instructed that Mary Curtis be given Narcan and specified the dosage thereof. Nurse Sansome testified that N.P. Socaoco arrived in person to the nursing station while Nurse Sansome was still writing an order. Nurse Sansome never spoke to Dr. Saxena about Mary Curtis. Transcript of Nurse Sansome, APP0335-355.

After Nurse Sansome's deposition, on December 13, 2017, the discovery commissioner ordered LCC to produce incident reports. Finally, on January 4, 2018, LCC served its seventh supplemental disclosure, producing therewith a medication error incident report identifying N.P. Socaoco as the physician/NP notified. Despite holding the incident report, and having served upon Ms. Latrenta at least eight disclosure statements prior to January 4, 2018, LCC never previously identified N.P. Socaoco as a witness or a person of interest in Mary Curtis' care. In fact, no disclosure statement of any Defendant had identified N.P. Socaoco.

Upon the discovery of N.P. Socaoco's involvement and less than two years after the death of Mary Curtis, Ms. Latrenta filed a Motion to Amend Complaint on January 17, 2018 to add the following newly discovered defendants: Annabelle Socaoco, N.P., and employers, IPC Healthcare, Inc. aka The Hospitalist Company, Inc., Inpatient Consultants of Nevada, Inc., IPC Healthcare Services Of Nevada, Inc., Hospitalists of Nevada, Inc. (again, collectively referred to as "IPC" or "Respondents"). APP0171-187.

Dr. Saxena opposed Ms. Latrenta's Motion to Amend Complaint, and on February 6, 2018 moved for summary judgment, arguing that the statute of limitations defeated Ms. Latrenta's claims both against him and against IPC. However, on April 12, 2018, the district court granted Ms. Latrenta's Motion to Amend to pursue her wrongful death claims and medical malpractice claims against IPC, granted Dr. Saxena's Countermotion for Summary Judgment as to Ms. Latrenta's first cause of action for abuse/neglect of an older person, and denied without prejudice Dr. Saxena's Countermotion for Summary Judgment as to the statute of limitations issue. APP0188-192. Therefore, on May 1, 2018, Respondents were added as defendants.

On June 12, 2018, IPC filed a Motion to Dismiss, or in the Alternative, for Summary Judgment, regurgitating the arguments and evidence that failed to secure Dr. Saxena summary judgment on Ms. Latrenta's wrongful death and medical malpractice claims a few months prior. The district court held a hearing on the IPC Motion to Dismiss, or, in the Alternative, for Summary Judgment on August 1, 2018 and denied the motion.

On November 7, 2018, IPC filed the Notice of Entry of Order Granting In Part and Denying In Part IPC's Motion to Dismiss, Or, In the Alterative, For Summary Judgment. That is, the district court granted IPC's Motion as to Plaintiffs' First Cause of Action for Abuse/Neglect of an Older Person, dismissing that claim, but denying IPC's Motion to Dismiss based upon the statute of limitations. The district court found that the date of inquiry as to the identity of IPC was a question of fact. The district court specifically stated:

8. The statute of limitations accrual date is a question of law only if the facts are uncontroverted. *Winn v. Sunrise Hospital and Medical Center*, 128 Nev. 246, 252-253 (2012) (citing *Day v. Zubel*, 112 Nev. 972, 977 (1996)).

9. The Court FINDS a question of fact remains as to the date of inquiry as to the identity of the IPC Defendants in this matter.

APP0358.

On November 26, 2018, Respondents filed a Motion for Reconsideration. APP0320-0344. Ms. Latrenta filed an Opposition on December 6, 2018. APP0386-393.

On January 9, 2019, the new acting judge in the case (the case having been administratively reassigned) entered Court Minutes denying IPC's motion for reconsideration, which the new acting judge erroneously called "Plaintiff's [sic] Motion for Reconsideration of the Court's ruling Granting Defendants Summary Judgement" because the previous Order was not clearly erroneous and "Plaintiff [sic] did not argue any new facts or law and did not introduce any substantially different evidence." APP0394-395.

On February 27, 2019, the district court filed an Order to Strike the Court Minutes on IPC's Motion for Reconsideration. On that same day, the district court, without oral argument, entered an Order granting IPC's motion for reconsideration. In this Order, the district court ruled that the case against IPC was barred by the statute of limitations and ordered the case dismissed with prejudice. On April 25, 2019, IPC filed the Notice of Entry of Order Granting IPC Defendants' motion for reconsideration. Contrary to the prior judge's findings, the new acting judge found that, the

pertinent facts were uncontroverted as a matter of law, finding that:

* * * *

22. The pertinent facts in this case are uncontroverted as a matter of law.

* * *

- 24. Plaintiffs were on inquiry notice no later than March 11, 2016, the date of Mary Curtis's death, because Plaintiffs admitted that providers of health care at Sunrise Hospital told her negligent conduct occurred.
- 25. Moreover, Plaintiffs were on inquiry notice against IPC Defendants at the same time that Plaintiffs were on inquiry notice as related to Life Care Defendants given Plaintiffs' aforementioned arguments in support of their Motion to Consolidate.
- 26. Plaintiffs' argument is without merit regarding the position that the statute of limitations was tolled until Plaintiffs learned the identity of IPC Defendants...

* * *

- c. Plaintiffs knew of the purportedly negligent conduct even if Plaintiffs did not know the specific identities of each provider of health care.
- d. Plaintiffs were in possession of medical records which contained the names of some of the IPC Defendants.

* * * *

APP0409.

On April 29, 2019, Ms. Latrenta filed a motion for reconsideration of the Order Granting IPC's motion for reconsideration requesting the district court to reconsider and amend its order granting IPC's motion for reconsideration because (1) the district court failed to acknowledge controlling case law interpreting NRS 41A.097; (2) the district court erroneously employed an analysis applicable not to discovery date but to injury date; (3) the twin *Siragusa/Spitler* decisions require that a jury decide whether Ms. Latrenta acted with reasonable diligence in discovering N.P. Socaoco's identity; and (4) Ms. Latrenta's original complaint included Doe Defendants.

On June 5, 2019, the district court held a hearing on Ms. Latrenta's motion for reconsideration. Shortly thereafter, on June 26, 2019, entered its Order Denying Ms. Latrenta's Motion to Reconsider because the district court ironically found that Ms. Latrenta's Motion to Reconsider did not provide a clear error of law present in the district court's Order entered on April 25, 2019. On June 27, 2019, IPC filed the Notice of Entry of Order Denying Plaintiff's Motion to Reconsider. APP0414-419. On July 1, 2019, Ms. Latrenta filed her Notice of Appeal of the Order Granting IPC's motion for reconsideration. APP420-422. This appeal follows.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

It is Ms. Latrenta's position that the lower court erred in first reconsidering IPC's motion for dismissal/summary judgment, and then subsequently dismissing Ms. Latrenta's claims against Respondents on statute of limitations grounds. This Court should therefore vacate the district court's order, with directions to deny IPC's motion to reconsider. Her position rests upon four grounds: First, in moving for reconsideration IPC pointed to no clear error in the previous district court order denying dismissal, but rather simply re-argued its case on the matter. As such, no reconsideration should have even occurred. Second, the date of inquiry notice is ordinarily a jury question, and mere comment by an unknown member of a hospital staff on March 11, 2016 does not constitute irrefutable evidence of notice such that the question is no longer one of fact for the jury. Third, the question of inquiry notice extends not only to the issue of actionable damage, but also to the identity of the potential tortfeasor. Fourth, a name and signature on the key document in this case was so illegible and placed in such a circumstance that it was a matter for the jury to determine whether the document provided inquiry notice as to the identity of IPC as the potential tortfeasor.

LEGAL ANALYSIS AND ARGUMENT

This Court normally reviews a ruling on a motion for reconsideration for abuse of discretion. *AA Primo Builders, LLC v. Washington*, 245 P.3d 1190, 1197 (Nev. 2010). However, reconsideration in this instance resulted in dismissal of Ms. Latrenta's action against IPC, and turned upon findings of fact, so the appropriate standard of review is that of summary judgment. The Nevada Supreme Court reviews a summary judgment order *de novo*. *Winn v. Sunrise Hosp. & Medical Center*, 277 P.3d 458, 459 (Nev. 2012) (*citing Wood v. Safeway, Inc.*, 121 P.3d 1026,

1029 (Nev. 2005); Butler ex rel. Biller v. Bayer, 168 P.3d 1055, 1061 (Nev. 2007) (citing Pegasus v. Reno Newspapers, Inc., 57 P.3d 82, 87 (Nev. 2002)).

Summary judgment should only be granted by a district court when, after reviewing the pleadings and discovery on file, and viewing them in a light *most favorable to the nonmoving party*, no genuine issue of material fact exists and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. NEV.R.CIV.P. 56(c); *see also Lee v. GNLV Corp.*, 22 P.3d 209, 211 (Nev. 2001) (*citing Butler v. Bogdanovich*, 705 P.2d 662, 663 (Nev. 1985)). A genuine issue of material fact exists where the evidence is such that a reasonable jury *could* return a verdict for the nonmoving party. *Valley Bank of Nevada v. Marble*, 775 P.2d 1278, 1279 (Nev. 1989).

I. IPC offered insufficient grounds for the lower court to reconsider its prior rulings on the application of the Discovery Rule to the statute of limitations in this case.³

Can it be that a disappointed movant in Nevada can move for reconsideration of an order, based upon the simple assertion that a clear error occurred in the (multiple) prior rulings? While motions to reconsider present no jurisdictional impediments—given that denied motions to dismiss are interlocutory—such motions obviously present a threat to the finality and tranquility of orders and

³ This argument was preserved below (*See e.g.*, APP0347-0348).

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