IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

Estate of MARY CURTIS, deceased; LAURA LATRENTA, a Personal Representative of the Estate of MARY CURTIS; and LAURA LATRNETA, individually, Plaintiffs/Appellants,

Appellants,

VS.

ANNABELLE SOCAOCO, NP: **IPC** INC. HEALTHCARE, a/k/a THE HOSPITALIST COMPANY. INC.: INPATIENT CONSULTANTS OF NEVADA, INC.: IPC HEALTHCARE, SERVICES OF NEVADA. INC.: HOSPITALISTS OF NEVADA, INC., Respondents.

Electronically Filed Dec 16 2019 01:34 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

Supreme Court No.: 79116

District Court Case No.: A750520

Consolidated with:

District Court Case No.: A754013

RESPONDENTS' ANSWERING BRIEF

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

III. LEGAL ARGUMENT.

The legal issues favor Respondents. **First**, the District Court was well within its discretion to reconsider the statute of limitations issue to ensure it arrived at the correct legal conclusion. **Second**, Nevada statutes and this Court's rulings make clear that the undisputed, admitted facts commenced the statute of limitations on claims sounding in professional negligence claim no later than March 11, 2016 as a matter of law. **Third**, overwhelming evidence demonstrates that Appellants had *actual* notice of a potential claim against Respondents more than one year before filing suit. At the absolute minimum, Appellants were on at least inquiry notice one year before filing suit. For these reasons, the District Court made the correct legal

decision in barring Appellants' lawsuit against Respondents due to the expiration of the one year statute of limitations.

A. RECONDISERATION WAS JUSTIFIED.

The District Court was certainly entitled to reconsider its Order Granting In Part and Denying In Part Respondents' Motion to Dismiss, or, in the Alternative for Summary Judgment entered on November 7, 2018 ("Order"). Ample case law establishes that the District Court possesses the inherent authority to reconsider its decisions especially if a matter of law was overlooked or misapprehended. See Nevius v. Warden, 114 Nev. 664, 667, 960 P.2d 805, 806 (1998). That was the case here as the initial order denying Respondents' Motion to Dismiss failed to appreciate that Latrenta's wide-ranging admitted knowledge of the key facts underlying the lawsuit meant that there was *irrefutable* evidence present which made the statute of limitations issue ripe for a legal decision.

The District Court enjoys wide discretion in reconsidering its orders particularly in its efforts to promote substantial justice. <u>Harvey's Wagon Wheel, Inc. v. MacSween</u>, 96 Nev. 215, 217, 606 P.2d 1095, 1097 (1980); <u>see also Nevius</u>, 114 Nev. at 664. This case represents precisely that type of situation where the District Court properly exercised its discretion and examined its decision to ensure it was just and legally proper.

B. NEVADA LAW SUPPORTS THE DISTRICT COURT DECISION

A. Guiding Principle: The <u>Initial</u> Complaint Against Dr. Saxena Was Untimely—Any Relation Back Of The Amended Complaint Is Unavailing.

Two important items to keep in mind when analyzing this issue are: (1) the fact that the *initial* Complaint filed against Dr. Saxena in Case No. A-17-754013-C was itself untimely as it was filed more than a year after March 11, 2016, the date upon which Appellants unequivocally and admittedly had facts before them which constituted "discovery" of their legal injury (as will be proven, below), and (2) the factual bases for the professional negligence claim against Dr. Saxena *is identical* to the factual bases for the professional negligence claim against Respondents: there was a purported failure to transport Curtis to a hospital and administer a Narcan IV drip. Focusing on these two realities avoids the confusion Appellants present by arguing that they just did not know about the person of NP Socaoco until sometime during discovery which only serves to obscure the plain fact they knew of the negligence conduct and generally the health care providers involved.

The bottom line is that substituting NP Socaoco into the lawsuit via an Amended Complaint invokes the relation back doctrine of NRCP 15(c) and therefore brings the critical question front and center: was the <u>initial</u> Complaint itself timely? The answer: No. The purportedly negligent conduct occurred in

March 2016 and Appellants failed to file suit against Dr. Saxena until April 2016, more than a year later.

If the initial suit against Dr. Saxena was untimely, then relation back to an untimely complaint leads to the same outcome: it's barred by the statute of limitations set forth in NRS 41A.097(2). Stated differently, Appellants cannot avoid the one (1) year statute of limitations applicable to the Complaint by filing an Amended Complaint naming/substituting a different defendant when the factual conduct underlying the claims against both parties (Dr. Saxena and NP Socaoco/IPC Defendants) is identical. Appellants' misapprehension regarding which provider to sue fails to create a wormhole in time. This distinction refutes Appellants' entire position and demonstrates the District Court ruled correctly in favor of Respondents.

- B. Nevada Supreme Court Case Law Clearly Establishes How to Determine When Inquiry Notice Commences in Professional Negligence Lawsuits.
- 1. <u>Knowledge of "Someone's" Negligent Conduct Commences</u> **Inquiry Notice in Nevada Professional Negligence Cases.**

A close reading of this Court's precedent provides a clear landmark for identifying when inquiry notice commences as a matter of law. The most relevant decision was handed down by this Court in <u>Winn</u> which summarized the relevant statute of limitations jurisprudence and elaborated as follows:

"While difficult to define in concrete terms, a person is put on "inquiry notice" when he or she should have known of facts that 'would lead an ordinarily prudent person to investigate the matter further.' Black's Law Dictionary 1165 (9th ed. 2009). We reiterated in Massey that these facts need not pertain to precise legal theories the plaintiff may ultimately pursue, but merely to the plaintiff's general belief that someone's negligence may have caused his or her injury. 99 Nev. at 728, 669 P.2d at 252. Thus, Winn "discovered" Sedona's injury at a point when he had facts before him that would have led an ordinarily prudent person to investigate further into whether Sedona's injury may have been caused by someone's negligence." (Emphasis added). Winn v. Sunrise Hosp. & Med. Ctr., 128 Nev. 246, 252-53, 277 P.3d 458, 462 (2012).

The citation is important because it makes three key distinctions: (1) the analysis focuses on a *plaintiff's* knowledge, (2) only facts—not precise legal theories—are material to the statute of limitation issue, and (3) the requisite facts are merely those which would cause an ordinarily prudent person to *investigate* whether an injury was caused by "someone's negligence."

This last distinction is particularly relevant to the instant matter. This Court's use of "someone" is no accident and is *perfectly* in line with NRS 41A.071—the statute setting forth the threshold burden to bring a professional negligence case. Indeed, NRS 41A.071 states the following (emphasis added):

NRS 41A.071 Dismissal of action filed without affidavit of medical expert. If an action for professional negligence is filed in the district court, the district court shall dismiss the action, without prejudice, if the action is filed without an affidavit that:

- 1. Supports the allegations contained in the action;
- 2. Is submitted by a medical expert who practices or has practiced in an area that is substantially similar to the type of practice engaged in at the time of the alleged professional negligence;

- 3. **Identifies by <u>name</u>**, <u>or</u> <u>describes by conduct</u>, each provider of health care who is alleged to be negligent; and
- 4. Sets forth factually a specific act or acts of alleged negligence separately as to each defendant in simple, concise and direct terms.

Here, again, no accidents occurred in the drafting of NRS 41A.071. Subsection 3 requires a name <u>or</u> a description of the **conduct** which is alleged to be negligent. In other words, professional negligence cases can be (and frequently are) commenced on the basis of the known negligent conduct even if the specific defendants' complete name remains unknown. This makes perfect sense given that the statute of limitations is short and frequently *dozens* of providers of health care can be involved in the care and treatment of a person. When the negligent *conduct* is known, plaintiffs in this State are obligated to bring suit within one (1) year and are permitted to substitute the proper party as the case unfolds. <u>See</u> NRS 41A.097(2); NRCP 15(a) and (c).

2. <u>Focus of Analysis is on Presence of Operative Facts</u> <u>Indicating Negligence.</u>

The <u>Winn</u> case provides helpful guidance in explaining that discovery of a legal injury *can* be decided as a matter of law if indisputable evidence exists establishing the date a plaintiff had access to the operative facts suggesting professional negligence by a provider of health care. Indeed, in <u>Winn</u> this Court noted that "the evidence does irrefutably demonstrate that Winn discovered

Sedona's injury no later than February 14, 2007" because that is the date when an operative record (which contained the fact—the presence of air—underlying the potential negligence) became accessible. <u>Id.</u> at 463.

The Winn case is factually distinct from the present matter. In Winn, the "doctors were unable to provide an explanation [to a father] for how this tragic result arose." Id. at 249. It was not until the (incomplete) medical record was received by the family that "discovery" occurred due to inquiry notice. The reason that inquiry notice commenced was obviously *not* due to the fact the (admittedly incomplete) records were received, but, rather because the records contained the operative fact (a notable volume of air in the heart) which should have caused further investigation. Id. at 249. Thus, while the receipt of medical records, autopsy reports, hiring a lawyer, or death certificates can constitute the point at which "discovery" occurs by, for example, triggering inquiry notice in professional negligence cases, the critical issue is when a plaintiff had access to the facts indicating injury due to some act of negligence. Here, as evidenced below, Appellants (specifically, Laura Latrenta) admittedly had access to those facts from multiple sources—before Curtis passed away on March 11, 2016.

3. <u>Statute of Limitations Commences Upon Death if Operative Facts Already Known.</u>

The case of <u>Pope v. Gray</u> also supports the District Court's decision to dismiss the case against Respondents due to the expiration of the statute of limitations. <u>Pope v. Gray</u>, 104 Nev. 358, 760 P.2d 763 (1988). In <u>Pope</u>, a case with some factual similarities, a seventy-four year old woman received two surgical procedures over the course of two days. <u>Id.</u> at 360. She died shortly after the second procedure and "[o]ne of the three doctors told [plaintiff] that her mother had died and they were not sure why." <u>Id.</u>

The Court concluded that it was reasonable for the plaintiff to argue that the statute of limitations did not run until receipt of the death certificate because "[e]ven though the doctors told Pope, on the day of her mother's death, that they did not know why she died, given Magill's age, surgical treatment, and serious manifestation of poor health two days before her death, death alone would not necessarily suggest, to a reasonably prudent person, that the decedent succumbed to the effects of medical malpractice." Id. at 358. Equally important, the Court commented that those facts distinguished a California case where the "plaintiff was aware, before death, of the possible negligence that caused decedent's death." Id. at 364 n.8. citing Larcher v. Wanless, 18 Cal. 3d 646, 650, 135 Cal. Rptr. 75, 77, 557 P.2d 507, 509 (1976). Thus, by implication, Pope stands for the proposition that a wrongful death cause of action commences on the date of death if a plaintiff is

aware of possible negligence that caused the death prior to (or simultaneous with) the actual death. Presently, as detailed below, Appellant Laura Latrenta admitted her repeated exposure to operative facts indicating negligence in connection with the administration of morphine to Curtis and her follow-up care.

4. Reliance on *Siragusa* is Misplaced.

Appellants' entire position rests upon a distorted interpretation of <u>Siragusa v.</u>

<u>Brown</u>, 114 Nev. 1384, 971 P.2d 801 (1998). <u>Siragusa</u> involved a lawyer who purportedly was the mastermind behind a scheme to defraud the plaintiff which went undiscovered for several years. <u>Id.</u> at 1388. Appellants' reliance is misplaced for two reasons.

First, this Court is well aware that professional negligence torts are treated *much* differently than intentional torts or even other negligence-based torts. An entire chapter of the Nevada Revised Statutes is devoted to these highly specialized professional negligence cases. The Nevada Supreme Court explicitly held that NRS 41A takes precedence over more general legal authorities when professional negligence is at issue. <u>Piroozi v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Ct.</u>, 131 Nev. Adv. Op. 100, 363 P.3d 1168 (2015).

The enactment of NRS 41A itself occurred after the <u>Siragusa</u> case. And the current iteration of NRS 41A.071 (via the 2015 amendments) occurred almost 20

years after the <u>Siragusa</u> case. As cited above, it was the 2015 amendments which further clarified that only the *conduct* (and not the specific defendant name) was sufficient to bring suit. It therefore follows that it is the known *conduct* (and not the specific defendant name) which commences inquiry notice in professional negligence cases.

Second, <u>Siragusa</u> concerned and limited itself to the intentional tort of civil conspiracy which necessarily requires the involvement of "two or more persons". This Court thus made its remarks concerning the identity of a tortfeasor within that context. The nature of the actual lawsuit is thus highly relevant to a statute of limitations analysis. The clarifying 2015 amendments to NRS 41A.071 and a proper understanding of <u>Winn</u> render <u>Siragusa</u> inapposite.

Interestingly, Appellant attempted to side-step the clear import of Winn by claiming:

- "Of course, there was in *Winn* no mystery about who was the negligent cause of daughter's injury-she had suffered a brain injury during a surgery in which she had air in her heart at inappropriate times, and so if anyone was negligent it was either the surgeon, the two perfusionists, or all three (and indeed father sued all three)." RESP224-225.
- "Winn was of course unconcerned with the issue of what individuals were the negligent cause of plaintiff's injury, as the identities of the physicians taking part in the surgery there were hardly shrouded in mystery." RESP225.

Yet, under Appellant's logic, this Court in Winn should have immediately

concluded that inquiry notice never commenced because it was not clear *which* particular provider of health care's act or omission caused the injury. But that did *not* occur because that is not the test for "discovery" or when *inquiry* notice occurs in Nevada particularly with regard to professional negligence cases. The only mystery is *what more* a potential plaintiff could even inquire about under Appellants' reading of law. The point of "inquiry" is to open a window of time whereby a plaintiff can learn enough to bring suit. Appellant's concept of "inquiry" would freeze time *until* the plaintiff learns everything needed to bring suit.

However, another problem exists for Appellants' argument. This was a situation where Appellants *mis* identified Dr. Saxena as the tortfeasor. Thus, it was not as though Appellants were unable to bring suit because they did not know the identity of the alleged tortfeasor, they simply got it wrong. Naming Dr. Saxena shows Appellants actually knew the group of providers likely responsible just like in <u>Winn</u>. The fundamental problem for Appellants is they failed to timely file suit against Dr. Saxena. It defies logic to conclude that a suit against Dr. Saxena is untimely but not against NP Socaoco (and Respondents generally).

5. Recent Decision of this Court in Barcelona Strongly Supports Respondents.

This Court's recent jurisprudence directly dealing with professional negligence cases supports Respondents' position. On September 12, 2019, this

Court addressed that discovery rule issue in the context of professional negligence cases in <u>Barcelona v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court</u>, 448 P.3d 544 (September 12, 2019 2019)(unpublished disposition, docket 78395) with strikingly similar facts to the present matter. <u>Barcelona</u> involved a woman who underwent surgery and died from surgical complications shortly thereafter on November 4, 2015. <u>Id.</u> On October 29, 2016, the estate and relatives filed a complaint against several providers of health care including the hospital. <u>Id.</u> The lower court dismissed the complaint as to the hospital because the expert affidavit lacked any description of conduct which constituted a deviation from the standard of care by the hospital as required by NRS 41A.071. <u>Id.</u>

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